
MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING 
DECEMBER 7, 2022 



DM-#8134778.2 

1 

MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

TO: THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT AND TO ALL 
OTHER INTERESTED PERSONS: 

Notice is hereby given that a regular meeting of the Midtown Management District will be held 
on Wednesday, December 7, 2022 at 11:00 a.m. in the 1st Floor Conference Room located 
at 410 Pierce Street, Houston TX 77002, inside the boundaries of the District, open to the 
public, to consider, discuss and adopt such orders, resolutions or motions, and take other direct 
or indirect actions as may be necessary, convenient, or desirable with respect to the following 
matters: 

1. Call meeting to Order and verify that a quorum is present.

2. Receive Public Comments***

3. Consent Agenda

a. Approve Minutes for the November 2, 2022, Board Meeting.
b. Approve Financial Report for the Month of October 2022.
c. Approve Payment of Invoices for November 2022.
d. Approve Equi-Tax Report for November 2022.

4. Review, discuss and take necessary action regarding the annual review of the
District’s Investment Policy and List Qualified Broker/Dealers.

5. Receive committee activity reports and review, discuss, and take necessary action
regarding the following, as appropriate:

a. Service & Maintenance. . . . . . . . .  Christopher Johnston, Chair 

i. Review bid responses and make award subject to final contract
negotiations with winning bidder(s) for the Midtown Field Maintenance
Services Team.

ii. Review bid responses and make award subject to final contract
negotiations with winning bidder(s) for Elizabeth Baldwin Park and
Elizabeth Glover Park Landscape Maintenance.

b. Urban Planning  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  James Llamas, Chair 



DM-#8134778.2 

2 

i. Resolution authorizing Interlocal Agreement with the City of Houston
relating to the Midtown Parking Benefits District Advisory Committee.

ii. Resolution creating and establishing Midtown Parking Benefits District
Advisory Committee.

c. Marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    Debbie Tyler-Dillard, Chair 

d. Cultural Arts & Entertainment . . . . Charles Washington, Chair 

e. Finance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Kelly A. Young, Chair 

i. Approve FY 2023 Budget

f. Community Activity Report. . . . . .  Christopher Johnston, Liaison 

i. Super Neighborhood #62

g.  Public Safety . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Allen Douglas, Chair 

i. S.E.A.L. Security Solutions LLC. Contract

h.  Nominating . . . . . . . . . …………… Gloria Haney, Chair 

i. Recommendations to fill vacant Board positions 6 and 8.

ii. Recommendations for the City of Houston Midtown Parking Benefits
District Advisory Committee.

i.  Service/Improvement Plan . . . . . .  Jeanette Criglar, Co-Chair 
 Kelly A. Young, Co-Chair 

j.  Executive. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Darcy John Lefsrud, Chair 

 6   Report on Capital Projects of the Midtown Redevelopment Authority 

7. With respect to the foregoing agenda items, the Board may conduct an executive
session with regards to the following, as appropriate, and necessary.

a. Consultation with attorney (Section 551.071, Texas Government Code);

b. Personnel matters (Section 551.074, Texas Government Code).

Upon entering into executive session, the presiding officer shall note which agenda 
items will be discussed. 

8. Announcements

 Next meeting date * Please note the date



DM-#8134778.2 

3 

Wednesday, January 11, 2023, at 11:00 a.m. 
410 Pierce Street, 1st Floor Conference Room 
Houston TX 77002  
**Please enter through the door on Pierce near 
 Brazos Street 

9. Adjourn

        Darcy John Lefsrud /ca
 SEAL Darcy John Lefsrud, Chair 

 Midtown Management District Board of Director 

***If you would like to make public comments, please register prior to 11:00 a.m. 
Registration sign in sheets for those making public comments will be picked up promptly 
at 11:00 a.m.  

MISSION STATEMENT 

Midtown strives to provide an economically vibrant urban destination where arts and culture 

thrive alongside businesses and residents in a safe, active, diverse neighborhood. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 



 

1 
 

T  
 

MINUTES OF THE MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT    BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

 

Wednesday, November 2, 2022 
 

The Board of Directors of the Midtown Management District held a regular meeting, open to 
the public, on Wednesday, November 2, 2022, at 6:00p.m. in the first-floor conference room 
of the building located at 410 Pierce Street, Houston, TX 77002, inside the boundaries of the 
District, and the roll was called of the duly appointed members of the Board, to-wit: 

The roll was called of the duly appointed members of the Board, to-wit: 
 

Pos. 1 Darcy John Lefsrud Pos. 10 Daniel Arguijo 

Pos. 2 Gloria Haney Pos. 11 Debbie Tyler-Dillard 

Pos. 3 Amar Mohite Pos. 12 Muddassir Siddiqi, Ed.D.  

Pos. 4 James Llamas Pos. 13 Marylene Chan 

Pos. 5 Ryan M. LeVasseur Pos. 14 Christopher Johnston 

Pos. 6 Vacant Pos. 15 Jeanette Criglar, Ph.D. 

Pos. 7 Desmond Bertrand-Pitts Pos. 16 Kelly A. Young 

Pos. 8 Vacant Pos. 17 Charles Washington 

Pos. 9 J. Allen Douglas  

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER AND VERIFY THAT A QUORUM IS PRESENT 

 
All of the above were present except Directors LeVasseur, Douglas, Arguijo, Tyler Dillard, Siddiqi 
and Washington.  
 
In addition, present at the meeting were Midtown Staff members Cynthia Alvarado, Marlon 
Marshall, David Thomas, Robert Bradford, Jaime Giraldo, Chrystal Robinson – Davis, Peggy 
Foreman of Burney and Foreman, and Clinton Turner of Baldwin Square Homeowners 
Association were present. 
 
Ms. Alvarado called the roll of the Board of Directors and verified that a quorum was present. 
 
Chair Lefsrud called the meeting to order and welcomed everyone. 

 
2. RECEIVE PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
 Chair Lefsrud announced that members of the public are invited to speak during this portion of 

the agenda. Please limit your comments to no more than 3 minutes. Speakers may not yield all 
or a portion of their time to another person. State law prohibits the Board Chair or members of 
the Board from commenting on any statement or engaging in dialogue without an appropriate 
agenda item being posted in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act. Comments should 
be directed to the entire Board, not individual Board members. If you would like to speak during 
the Public Comments portion of the meeting, we ask that you please announce yourself now.  

 

  There were no public comments. 
 

DRAFT



 

2 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 

A. APPROVE MINUTES FOR THE OCTOBER 5, 2022, BOARD MEETING. 
B. APPROVE FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 2022. 
C. APPROVE PAYMENT OF INVOICES FOR OCTOBER 2022. 
D. APPROVE EQUI-TAX REPORT FOR OCTOBER 2022. 

 
  

Ms. Alvarado presented the various items on the consent agenda. Director Young made a 
motion to approve the consent agenda as presented. The motion was seconded by   
Director Johnston which carried by unanimous vote.  
 
4.   REVIEW, DISCUSS AND TAKE NECESSARY ACTION REGARDING THE 3RD QUARTER 
INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING IN SEPTEMBER 30, 2022. 
 
Mr. Thomas presented the written investment report contained in the Board Packet. He stated the 
average interest rate on all accounts for the quarter ending in September 30, 2022, was 0.7002%. The 
amount of interest earned for the 3rd quarter was $7,801.91. 
 
Director Haney made a motion to accept the investment report as presented. The motion was seconded 
by Director Mohite  and carried by unanimous vote.  
 
 
 

5.    RECEIVE COMMITTEE ACTIVITY REPORTS AND REVIEW, DISCUSS AND 

TAKE NECESSARY ACTION REGARDING THE FOLLOWING, AS APPROPRIATE: 

 

A. Service & Maintenance Committee – Christopher Johnston, Chair 

Director Johnston gave the committee report. There were no action items. 

B. Cultural Arts & Entertainment Committee – Charles Washington, Chair   

Ms. Alvarado provided the committee report. There were no action items. 

C. Marketing & Economic Development Committee – Debbi Tyler-Dillard, Chair 

Director Tyler-Dillard gave the committee report. There were no action items.  

D. Urban Planning Committee – James Llamas, Chair 

E. Director Llamas provided the committee report.  Ms. Alvarado provided an update regarding 
the Parking Benefits District. Additional updates of the Parking Benefits District Advisory 
Committee will be provided in the upcoming Midtown Management District Board meeting.  

F. Finance and Budget Committee – Kelly A. Young, Chair 

Director Young provided the committee report. There were no action items. 

 Community Activity Report – Christopher Johnston, Liaison 

i. Super Neighborhood #62 

G.   Public Safety Committee- J. Allen Douglas, Chair 

DRAFT



 

3 
 

      Mr. Giraldo provided the committee report. There were no action items. 

G. Executive Committee – Darcy Lefsrud, Chair 

There were no action items or reports from the Executive Committee outside of what 
each committee had previously reported. 

  
 

REPORT ON CAPITAL PROJECTS OF THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY (MRA) 

 

 

Caroline Street – The contractor has started the installation of the final pavement markings.  TxDOT 
has hired a consultant to complete the internal review of punch list to determine which items the 
contractor will be required to address. CenterPoint has two pole removals remaining that conflict with 
sidewalk and intersection ramp installations.  Upcoming work includes installation of remaining 
pavement markings, regulatory signage, rain garden lighting, and TDLR inspection.  

 

 

Baldwin Park – Remaining electrical items have been installed. Construction has been 
completed and the project closeout is in progress. 

 

PARTNER PROJECTS  

 

 Safe Street Survey – The surveys are currently under evaluation. Projects are identified during 
the community survey and are based on the safety, mobility, access, equity, and public input. 
The criteria will select six projects for further cost benefit analysis for grant pursuit. 

 

The Gray Street Bike Buffer Design – Plans were approved by the City of Houston. The 
Midtown Redevelopment Authority is currently working on project specifications for the 
procurement process and developing a procurement schedule.  

 

Glover Park – The bicycle and sidewalk improvements are completed. 

 

Parks and the Public Realm – Consultants are working to schedule meeting with the Steering 
Committee prior to the next public engagement event in January 2023. 

 
WITH RESPECT TO THE FOREGOING AGENDA ITEMS, THE BOARD MAY CONDUCT AN 
EXECUTIVE SESSION WITH REGARDS TO THE FOLLOWING AS APPROPRIATE AND 
NECESSARY.  

 

a. Consultation with attorney (Section 551.071, Texas Government Code). 
 

b. Personnel matters (Section 551.074, Texas Government Code). 
 

There was no Executive Session. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
   No additional announcements were made. 
 

NEXT MEETING DATE 
 

DRAFT



 

4 
 

Chair Lefsrud announced that the next Midtown Management District Board of Directors meeting 
will be held on Wednesday, December 7, 2022, at 11:00 a.m. and that more details    will be 
forthcoming. 
 

ADJOURN 

There being no other business, the meeting was adjourned. 
 
 

 
Marylene Chan        Date 
Board Secretary  DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



INVESTMENT 
REPORT 

DRAFT



Certificate for Resolution – Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy 
12072022 v1 

CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

§ 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

I, the undersigned officer of the Board of Directors of Midtown Management District, hereby 

certify as follows: 

1. The Board of Directors of the Midtown Management District convened in regular

session on the 7th day of December 2022, and the roll was called of the duly constituted officers and 

members of the Board to-wit:   

Pos. 1 Darcy John Lefsrud Pos. 10 Dan Arguijo 

Pos. 2 Gloria Haney Pos. 11 Debbie Tyler Dillard 

Pos. 3 Amar Mohite Pos. 12 Muddassir Siddiqi 

Pos. 4 James Llamas Pos. 13 Marylene Chan 

Pos. 5 Ryan M. LeVasseur Pos. 14 Christopher Johnston 

Pos. 6 Vacant Pos. 15 Jeanette Criglar 

Pos. 7 Desmond Bertrand-Pitts Pos. 16 Kelly Young 

Pos. 8 Vacant Pos. 17 Charles Washington 

Pos. 9 J. Allen Douglas

and all of said persons were present, except Directors _________________________________, thus 

constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted at the meeting: 

a written 

RESOLUTION REGARDING ANNUAL REVIEW 

OF SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTMENT POLICY 

AND LIST OF AUTHORIZED QUALIFIED BROKERS OF 

THE MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT  

was introduced for the consideration of the Board.  It was then duly moved and seconded that the 

resolution be adopted, and, after due discussion, the motion, carrying with it the adoption of the 

resolution, prevailed and carried unanimously. 

2. That a true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid Resolution adopted at the meeting

described in the above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this certificate; that the 

Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board’s minutes of the meeting; that the persons named in the 

above and foregoing paragraph are the duly chosen, qualified and acting officers and members of the 

Board as indicated therein; that each of the officers and members of the Board was duly and sufficiently 

notified officially and personally, in advance, of the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, 

and that the Resolution would be introduced and considered for adoption at the meeting, and each of the 

officers and members consented, in advance, to the holding of the meeting for such purpose; that the 

meeting was open to the public as required by law; and that public notice of the time, place and subject 

of the meeting was given as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 

DRAFT



Certificate for Resolution – Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy 
12072022 v1 

SIGNED AND SEALED the 7th day of December, 2022. 

_____________________________________ 

Secretary, Board of Directors 

(SEAL) DRAFT



-1-

Resolution – Annual Review of  

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-7-2022) 

RESOLUTION REGARDING ANNUAL REVIEW 

OF SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTMENT POLICY AND LIST OF 

AUTHORIZED QUALIFIED BROKERS OF 

THE MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 

WHEREAS, the Midtown Management District (the “District”) is a municipal 

management district created by the 76th Texas Legislature pursuant to H.B. 2894 (the “Special 

Act”) and operating pursuant to and under the authority of Chapter 3809, Special District Local 

Laws Code and Chapter 375, Texas Local Government Code, as amended.  

WHEREAS, the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, 

as amended, requires the Board of Directors of the District (the “Board”) to, at least annually, 

review its Investment Policy; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has convened on this date at a meeting open to the public to 

conduct the District’s annual review of its Investment Policy pursuant to Section 2256.005, et 

seq., Texas Government Code, as amended; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board has also convened on this date to conduct the District’s annual 

review of its list of qualified brokers that are authorized to engage in investment transactions 

with the District, pursuant to Section 2256.025, Texas Government Code, as amended; and  

WHEREAS, the District has determined not to amend its Second Amended and Restated 

Investment Policy, adopted on December 6, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy has attached 

thereto as Exhibit A, a list of qualified broker/dealers that are authorized to engage in investment 

transactions with the District; and 

WHEREAS, on December 2, 2020, the Board voted to replace such Exhibit A, with 

Exhibit A-III, which contained a revised list of qualified brokers that were authorized to engage 

in investment transactions with the District; and 

WHEREAS, the Board now desires to replace such Exhibit A-III with Exhibit A-IV, 

which contains a revised list of qualified brokers that are authorized to engage in investment 

transactions with the District.  

Now Therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MIDTOWN 

MANAGEMENT DISTRICT THAT: 

Section 1. The Board hereby conducted the annual review of the District’s Second 

Amended and Restated Investment Policy, adopted on December 6, 2017, (a copy of which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit I) and confirms that such investment policy same shall remain in 

effect until modified by action of the Board. 

DRAFT



-2-

Resolution – Annual Review of  

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-7-2022) 

 Section 2. The Board hereby adopts the amended list of qualified brokers, attached as 

Exhibit A-IV to the Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy, (a copy of which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit I), and confirms that same shall be in effect until modified by action 

of the Board.  Further, the Board hereby authorizes and directs that the previous Exhibit A-III to 

the Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy, be replaced with Exhibit A-IV.  

Section 3. The provisions of this Resolution shall be effective as of the date of 

adoption and shall remain in effect until modified by action of the Board. DRAFT



-3-

Resolution – Annual Review of  

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-7-2022) 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 7th day of December 2022. 

Darcy John Lefsrud 

Vice Chair, Board of Directors 

ATTEST: 

Marylene Chan 

Secretary 

(SEAL) 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 1 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

 

EXHIBIT I  

 

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTMENT POLICY 

OF 

MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 

(See Attached)DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 2 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTMENT POLICY  

 

This Amended and Restated Investment Policy (this “Policy”) is adopted by the Board of 

Directors of Midtown Management District (the “District”) pursuant to Chapter 2256 of the 

Texas Government Code, and is made effective as of the date set forth on the signature page 

hereof. 

ARTICLE I 

PURPOSE 

Section 1.01. Purpose. 

This Policy with respect to District investments has been adopted to establish the 

principles and criteria by which the funds of the District should be invested and secured and to 

comply with various provisions of Texas law relating to the investment and security of funds of 

local government corporations (the “Investment Laws”).  As of the date of the adoption of this 

Policy, the following laws are applicable to the investment of the District’s funds: Chapter 2256, 

Texas Government Code; Chapter 791, Texas Government Code; Chapter 2257, Texas 

Government Code; and Chapter 404.101 et seq., Texas Government Code.  The Investment Laws 

generally provide the minimum criteria for the authorized investment and security of the 

District’s funds and require the District to adopt rules to ensure the investment of District funds 

in accordance with such laws.  This Policy will specify the scope of authority of District 

Officials who are responsible for the investment of District funds. 

ARTICLE II 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 2.01. Definitions. 

Unless the context requires otherwise, the following terms and phrases used in this Policy 

shall mean the following:   

(a) “Authorized Collateral” means any means or method of securing the 

deposit of District funds authorized by Chapter 2257, Texas Government Code. 

(b) “Authorized Investment” means any security which the District is 

authorized to invest under Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code. 

(c) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the District. 

(d) “Collateral” means any means or method of securing the deposit of 

District funds under Article IV hereof. 

(e) “Collateral Act” means Chapter 2257, Texas Government Code, as 

amended from time to time. 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 3 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

(f) “Director” means a person appointed to serve on the Board of Directors of 

the District. 

(g) “District Officials” means the Investment Officer, District Directors, 

officers, Employees, and persons and business entities engaged in handling the 

investment of District funds. 

(h) “Employee” means any person employed by the District, but does not 

include independent contractors or professionals hired by the District as outside 

consultants, such as the District’s accountant, financial advisor or general counsel. 

(i) “FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any 

successor entity. 

(j) “Investment Act” means Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, as 

amended from time to time. 

(k) “Investment Officer(s)” means the Director(s) or Employee(s) of the 

District (or the employee of an investing entity with whom the District has contracted to 

invest its funds) appointed from time to time by the Board to invest and reinvest the funds 

of the District held in its various accounts. 

(l) “NCUSIF” means the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund 

managed by the National Credit Union Administration, or any successor entity. 

ARTICLE III 

INVESTMENT OFFICER 

Section 3.01. Investment Officer. 

From time to time, the District shall appoint one or more of its Directors or Employees to 

serve as Investment Officer(s) to handle the investment of District funds.  The Investment 

Officer(s) shall be responsible for investing District funds in accordance with this Policy.  The 

Investment Officer(s) shall invest the District’s funds, not for speculation, but for investment, 

considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived, with all 

investment decisions to be governed by the objectives set forth in Section 7.01 hereof. 

Section 3.02. Training. 

The Investment Officer(s) shall attend training sessions and receive the number of hours 

of instruction as required by the Investment Act. 

Section 3.03. Reporting by the Investment Officer and District Officials. 

Not less than quarterly and within a reasonable time after the end of the period reported, 

the Investment Officer and District Officials shall prepare and submit to the Board a written 

report of the investment transactions for all funds of the District for the preceding reporting 

period.  The report must (1) describe in detail the investment position of the District on the date 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 4 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

of the report; (2) be prepared jointly by all the Investment Officers of the District, if the District 

appoints more than one; (3) be signed by all Investment Officers and District Officials who 

prepare the report; (4) contain a summary statement of each pooled fund group that states the 

beginning market value for the reporting period, ending market value for the period, and fully 

accrued interest for the reporting period; (5) state the book value and the market value of each 

separately invested asset at the beginning and end of the reporting period by the type of asset and 

fund type invested; (6) state the maturity date of each separately invested asset that has a 

maturity date; (7) state the District fund for which each individual investment was acquired; and 

(8) state the compliance of the investment portfolio as it relates to this Policy and the Investment 

Act. 

Section 3.04. Assistance with Certain Duties of the Investment Officer. 

The Board hereby authorizes and directs the District’s Accountant and any other District 

Officials requested by the Investment Officer to assist the Investment Officer(s) with any of 

his/her duties, including but not limited to the following: 

1. Presenting a copy of this Policy to any person or business organization 

seeking to sell an investment to the District and obtaining the necessary written 

certification from such seller referred to in this section; 

2. Handling investment transactions; 

3. Preparing and submitting to the Board the written report of all investment 

transactions for the District as required by this section; 

4. Researching investment options and opportunities; 

5. Obtaining written depository pledge agreements as required herein; 

6. Obtaining safe-keeping receipts from the Texas financial institution which 

serves as a depository for pledged Collateral; and 

7. Reviewing the market value of the District’s investments and of the 

Collateral pledged to secure the District’s funds. 

ARTICLE IV 

PROCEDURES FOR INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT MONIES 

Section 4.01. Qualified Broker/Dealers. 

The Board hereby adopts the list of broker/dealers attached hereto as Exhibit A, as the 

qualified broker/dealers with whom the District may engage in investment transactions.  In 

addition to annual review and adoption of such list each year pursuant to the adoption of this 

Policy, the Board may, by written resolution, revise, amend or supplement such list of qualified 

broker/dealers. 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 5 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

As authorized in the Investment Act, the Board hereby designates the Executive Director 

of the District and one other member of the Board as the “designated investment committee” (the 

“Designated Investment Committee”). The Designated Investment Committee shall, at its 

discretion, approve any successors or assigns of those certain broker/dealers listed in Exhibit A 

hereto.   

Section 4.02. Disclosures of Relationships with Entities Offering to Enter into 

Investment Transactions with the District. 

The Investment Officer(s) and the District Officials shall disclose in writing (a) any 

“personal business relationship” with a business organization offering to engage in an investment 

transaction with the District and (b) any relationship within the second degree by affinity or 

consanguinity, as determined by Chapter 573, Texas Government Code, to any individual 

seeking to sell an investment to the District, as required by the Investment Act.  The existence of 

a “personal business relationship” shall be determined in accordance with the Investment Act.  

Such disclosure statement shall be filed with the Board and the Texas Ethics Commission.  

Section 4.03. Certifications from Sellers of Investments. 

The Investment Officer(s) or the District Officials shall present this Policy to any person 

or business organization offering to engage in an investment transaction with the District and 

obtain a certificate stating that such potential seller has reviewed the Policy as provided in the 

Investment Act.  This certificate shall be in a form acceptable to the District and shall state that 

the potential seller has received and reviewed the Policy and has acknowledged that the potential 

seller has implemented reasonable procedures and controls in an effort to preclude investment 

transactions with the District that are not authorized by this Policy, except to the extent that this 

authorization is dependent on an analysis of the makeup of the District’s entire portfolio or 

requires an interpretation of subjective investment standards.  Neither the Investment Officer nor 

the District Officials shall purchase or make any investment from a potential seller that has not 

delivered to the District this required certification.  A form of certificate acceptable to the 

District is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  

Section 4.04. Solicitation of Bids for Certificates of Deposit. 

Bids for certificates of deposit may be solicited orally, in writing, electronically or in any 

combination of those methods. 

Section 4.05. Settlement Basis. 

All purchases of investments, except investment in investment pools or in mutual funds, 

shall be made on a delivery versus payment basis.  The safekeeping entity for all District 

investments and for all Collateral pledged to secure District funds shall be one approved by the 

Investment Officer(s). 

Section 4.06. Monitoring of the Market Value of Investments and Collateral. 

The Investment Officer(s), with the help of such District Officials as needed, shall 

determine the market value of each investment and of all Collateral pledged to secure deposits of 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 6 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

District funds at least quarterly and at a time as close as practicable to the closing of the reporting 

period for investments.   Such values shall be included on the investment report.  The following 

methods shall be used: 

(a) Certificates of deposit shall be valued at their face value plus any accrued 

but unpaid interest. 

(b) Shares in money market mutual funds and investment pools shall be 

valued at par plus any accrued but unpaid interest. 

(c) Other investment securities with a remaining maturity of one year or less 

may be valued in any of the following ways: 

(1) the lower of two bids obtained from securities broker/dealers for 

such security; 

(2) the average of the bid and asked prices for such investment 

security as published in The Wall Street Journal or The New York Times; 

(3) the bid price published by any nationally recognized security 

pricing service; or 

(4) the market value quoted by the seller of the security or the owner 

of such Collateral. 

(d) Other investment securities with a remaining maturity greater than one 

year shall be valued at the lower of two bids obtained from securities broker/dealers for 

such security, unless two bids are not available, in which case the securities may be 

valued in any manner provided in 4.06(c) hereof. 

Section 4.07. Monitoring the Rating Changes in Investments.   

Consistent with Section 2256.021 of the Investment Act, the Investment Officer shall 

monitor all investments that require a minimum rating under subchapter A of Chapter 2256, 

Texas Government Code, as amended, such that any such investment that does not have the 

minimum rating shall no longer constitute an authorized investment.  Such investments that do 

not have the required minimum rating shall be liquidated within 30 days of the investment’s 

failure to maintain its required minimum rating. 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 7 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

ARTICLE V 

PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL FUNDS 

Section 5.01. Provisions Applicable to All Fund Groups. 

A. All funds of the District shall be invested only in accordance with this Policy and 

shall comply with any additional requirements imposed by bond resolutions or trust indentures of 

the District and applicable state law or federal tax law, including the Investment Laws. 

B. The Board, by separate resolution, may provide that the District’s Executive 

Director or Investment Officer may withdraw or transfer funds from and to accounts of the 

District only in compliance with this Policy. 

C. No fund groups shall be pooled for the purposes of investment, e.g. the funds in 

the Assessment Revenue Fund, each Reserve Fund, and in the Operating Fund shall not be 

commingled or pooled for purposes of investment. 

Section 5.02. Policy of Securing Deposits of District Funds -- Applicable to All 

Deposited District Funds. 

A. The District recognizes that FDIC or NCUSIF (or their respective successors) 

insurance is available for District funds deposited at any one Texas Financial Institution 

(including branch banks) only up to a maximum of $250,000 (including accrued interest) for 

each of the following:  (i) demand deposits, (ii) time and savings deposits, and (iii) deposits 

made pursuant to an indenture or pursuant to law in order to pay bondholders or noteholders.  It 

is the policy of the District that all deposited funds in each of the District’s accounts shall be 

insured by the FDIC or NCUSID, or their respective successors, and to the extent the deposit 

surpasses the FDIC or NCUSIF Deposit Insurance Coverage limit at any given time, shall be 

secured by Collateral pledged to the extent of the fair market value of the principal amount 

deposited plus accrued interest as required by the Collateral Act. 

B. If it is necessary for the District’s depositories to pledge Collateral to secure the 

District’s deposits, (1) the Collateral pledge agreement must be in writing, (2) the Collateral 

pledge agreement must be approved by the depository’s board of directors or loan committee, 

(3) the depository’s approval of the Collateral pledge agreement must be reflected in the minutes 

of the meeting of the depository’s board or loan committee approving same, and (4) the 

Collateral pledge agreement must be kept in the official records of the depository.  The 

depository must provide the Investment Officer or District Officials with written proof of the 

depository’s approval of the pledge agreement as required herein in a form acceptable to the 

District.  A signed or certified copy of the minutes of the meeting of the depository’s board or 

loan committee reflecting the approval of the Collateral pledge agreement or other written 

documentation of such approval acceptable to the Investment Officer will be accepted.  It is the 

preference of the Board that all requirements of this section be met be prior to the deposit of any 

District funds in such financial institution when a pledge of Collateral is required; however, the 

Board recognizes that compliance with this preference might not be practicable due to time 

constraints for making a deposit.  In such event, the Board directs the Investment Officer and 

District Officials to proceed diligently to have such agreement approved and documented to 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 8 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

assure protection of the District’s funds.  If the decision is made to forego the protection of a 

Collateral pledge agreement with any depository, the District’s Executive Director shall be 

responsible for maintaining the balance of deposit(s) in such depository plus any accrued but 

unpaid interest at or below FDIC or NCUSIF insurance levels.  

C. Collateral pledged by a depository shall be held in safekeeping at an independent 

third-party institution, and the District’s administrator or Investment Officer shall obtain 

safekeeping receipts from the Texas financial institution or the safe-keeping institution that 

reflect that Collateral as allowed by this Investment Policy and in the amount required was 

pledged to the District.  Principal and accrued interest on deposits in a financial institution shall 

not exceed the FDIC’s or NCUSIF’s, or their successor’s, insurance limits or the market value of 

the Collateral pledged as security for the District’s deposits.  It shall be acceptable for the 

District’s administrator or Investment Officer to periodically receive interest on deposits to be 

deposited to the credit of the District if needed to keep the amount of the funds under the 

insurance or Collateral limits.  It is the preference of the Board that there be no sharing, splitting 

or cotenancy of Collateral with other secured parties or entities; however, in the event that a 

depository cannot accommodate this preference due to the denominations of the securities to be 

pledged, the Board directs the Investment Officer and District Officials to obtain appropriate 

protections in the pledge agreement with the depository to assure that the Collateral is liquidated 

and the funds distributed appropriately to all parties with a security interest in such Collateral.  

The District’s Executive Director or Investment officer shall monitor the pledged Collateral to 

assure that it is pledged only to the District, review the fair market value of the Collateral to 

ensure that the District’s funds are fully secured, and report periodically to the Investment 

Officer and the Board regarding the Collateral. 

D. The District’s funds deposited in any Texas financial institution, to the extent that 

they are not insured, may be secured by the pledge of any of the following: 

1. Surety bonds; 

2. An obligation that in the opinion of the Attorney General of the United 

States is a general obligation of the United States and backed by its full faith and credit; 

3. A general or special obligation that is (a) payable from taxes, revenues, or 

a combination of taxes and revenues and (b) issued by a state or political or 

governmental entity, agency, instrumentality or subdivision of the state, including a 

municipality, an institution of higher education as defined by Section 61.003, Texas 

Education Code, a junior college, a district created under Article XVI, Section 59, of the 

Texas Constitution, and a public hospital; 

4. A fixed-rate collateralized mortgage obligation that has an expected 

weighted average life of 10 years or less and does not constitute a “high-risk mortgage 

security” under the Collateral Act; 

5. A floating-rate collateralized mortgage obligation that does not constitute 

a “high-risk mortgage security” under the Collateral Act; 

6. A letter of credit issued by a federal home loan bank; or 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 9 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

7. A security in which a public entity may invest under the Investment Act.  

As of the date of this Policy, the following are the securities in which a public entity may 

invest under the Investment Act and, therefore, may be used as Collateral: 

a. Obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its 

agencies and instrumentalities; 

b. Direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies and 

instrumentalities; 

c. Collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal 

agency or instrumentality or the United States, the underlying security for which 

is guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States; 

d. Other obligations, the principal and interest of which are 

unconditionally guaranteed or insured by or backed by the full faith and credit of 

the United States or the State of Texas or their respective agencies and 

instrumentalities, including obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured by the 

FDIC, NCUSIF or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States; 

e. Obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political 

subdivisions of any state rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized 

investment rating firm not less than A or its equivalent; 

f. Certificates of deposit issued by a depository institution that has its 

main office or a branch office in the State of Texas that are (i) guaranteed by the 

FDIC or its successor or the NCUSIF or its successor, (ii) secured by the 

obligations in which the District may invest under the Investment Act, or (iii) 

secured in any other manner and amount provided by law for deposits of the 

District;  

g. Certificates of deposit made in accordance with the following 

conditions: (i) a broker that has its main office or a branch office in this state and 

is selected from a list adopted by the District; (ii) the funds are invested by the 

District through a depository institution that has its main office or a branch office 

in the State of Texas and that is selected by the District; (iii) the broker or the 

depository institution selected by the District under clause (i) arranges for the 

deposit of the funds in certificates of deposit in one or more federally insured 

depository institutions, wherever located, for the account of the District; (iv) the 

full amount of the principal and accrued interest of each of the certificates of 

deposit is insured by the United States or an instrumentality of the United States; 

and (v) the depository institution selected by the District under clause (ii), an 

entity described by Section 2257.041(d), or a clearing broker dealer registered 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission and operating pursuant to Security 

and Exchange Commission Rule 15c3-3 (17 C.F.R. Section 240.15c3-3) acts as 

custodian for the District with respect to the certificates of deposit issued for the 

account of the District; 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 10 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

h. Repurchase agreements that comply with the Investment Act; 

i. Bankers’ acceptances that comply with the Investment Act; 

j. Commercial paper that complies with the Investment Act; 

k. No-load money market mutual funds that comply with the 

Investment Act;  

l. No-load mutual funds that comply with the Investment Act; and 

m. Guaranteed investment contracts that comply with the Investment 

Act. 

E. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary provided above, the following may not 

be used as Collateral and are not authorized as investments for the District under the Investment 

Act: 

a. Obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the 

outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security 

collateral and pays no principal; 

b. Obligations whose payment represents the principal stream of cash 

flow from the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and bears no 

interest; 

c. Collateralized mortgage obligations that have a final stated 

maturity date of greater than 10 years other than those listed in Section 5.02.D.4 

and 5.02.D.5 above; or 

d. Collateralized mortgage obligations the interest rate of which is 

determined by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index. 

Section 5.03. Diversification. 

The Investment Officer may invest up to 100% of the funds of the District in any 

investment instrument authorized in this Policy. 

ARTICLE VI 

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

Section 6.01. Authorized Investments. 

Unless specifically prohibited by law or elsewhere by this Policy, District monies in any 

of its fund groups may be invested and reinvested only in investments under the Investment Act: 

1. Obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies 

and instrumentalities, including the Federal Home Loan Banks; 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 11 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

2. Direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies and 

instrumentalities; 

3. Collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or 

instrumentality of the United States, the underlying security for which is guaranteed by 

an agency or instrumentality of the United States; 

4. Other obligations, the principal and interest of which are unconditionally 

guaranteed or insured by or backed by the full faith and credit of the State of Texas or the 

United States or their respective agencies and instrumentalities; 

5. Obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political 

subdivisions of any state rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized 

investment rating firm not less than A or its equivalent; 

6. Bonds issued, assumed, or guaranteed by the State of Israel; 

7. Interest-bearing banking deposits that are guaranteed or insured by: 

a. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or its successor; or 

b. The National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund or its successor; 

8. Interest-bearing banking deposits other than those described by Subsection 

7 if: 

a. The funds invested in the banking deposits are invested through (i) 

a broker with a main office or branch in this state and is selected from a list 

adopted by the District, or (ii) a depository institution with a main office or 

branch office in this state that the District selects; 

b. The broker or depository institution selected as described by 

Subsection (a) arranges for the deposit of the funds in the banking deposits in one 

or more federally insured depository institutions, regardless of where located, for 

the District’s account; 

c. The full amount of the principal and accrued interest of the 

banking deposits is insured by the United States or an instrumentality of the 

United States; and 

d. The District appoints as the District’s custodian of the banking 

deposits issued for the District’s account: (i) the depository institution selected as 

described by Subsection (1); (ii) an entity described by Section 2257.041(d) of the 

Texas Government Code, as amended; or (iii) a clearing broker dealer registered 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission and operating under Securities and 

Exchange Commission Rue 15c3-03. 

 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 12 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

9. Certificates of deposit issued by a depository institution that has its main 

or a branch office in the State of Texas and that are (i) guaranteed by the FDIC or its 

successor or the NCUSIF or its successor, (ii) secured by the obligations in which the 

District may invest under the Investment Act, or (iii) secured in any other manner and 

amount provided by law for deposits of the District;  

10. Certificates of deposit made in accordance with the following conditions: 

(i) a broker that has its main office or a branch office in this state and is selected from a 

list adopted by the District; (ii) the funds are invested by the District through a depository 

institution that has its main office or a branch office in the State of Texas and that is 

selected by the District; (iii) the broker or the depository institution selected by the 

District under clause (i) arranges for the deposit of the funds in certificates of deposit in 

one or more federally insured depository institutions, wherever located, for the account of 

the District; (iv) the full amount of the principal and accrued interest of each of the 

certificates of deposit is insured by the United States or an instrumentality of the United 

States; and (v) the depository institution selected by the District under clause (ii), an 

entity described by Section 2257.041(d), or a clearing broker dealer registered with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission and operating pursuant to Security and Exchange 

Commission Rule 15c3-3 (17C.F.R. Section 240.15c3-3) acts as custodian for the District 

with respect to the certificates of deposit issued for the account of the District; 

11. Repurchase agreements that comply with the Investment Act; 

12. Bankers’ acceptances that comply with the Investment Act; 

13. Commercial paper that complies with the Investment Act; 

14. No-load money market mutual funds that comply with the Investment Act; 

and 

15. No-load mutual funds that comply with the Investment Act; 

16. Investment Pools which meet the requirements set forth in Section 

2256.016 and Section 2256.019 of the Texas Government Code, as amended and which 

are specifically authorized by a resolution that is approved by the Board; and 

17. With respect to bond proceeds, guaranteed investment contracts that 

comply with the Investment Act. 

Section 6.02. Prohibited Investments. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated herein, no funds of the District may be 

invested in the following or in any other type of investment prohibited by the Investment Act or 

other applicable law: 

1. Obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the 

outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and 

pays no principal (IO’s); 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 13 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

2. Obligations whose payment represents the principal stream of cash flow 

from the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and bears no interest (PO’s); 

3. Collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity date 

of greater than 10 years; and 

4. Collateralized mortgage obligations the interest rate of which are 

determined by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in the market index (inverse 

floaters). 

Section 6.03. Investment of Funds Related to District.   

Anything in this Policy to the contrary notwithstanding, to the extent that any funds are 

held by a trustee under a trust indenture relating to the District’s debt, such funds may be 

invested as provided by the resolution authorizing the issuance of the bonds or the related trust 

indenture. 

ARTICLE VII 

INVESTMENT STRATEGIES 

Section 7.01. Strategy Applicable to All Funds. 

The District’s general investment strategy for all fund groups shall be to invest such 

monies from such fund groups so as to accomplish the following objectives, which are listed in 

the order of importance: 

1. Understanding of the suitability of the investment to the financial 

requirements of the District; 

2. Preservation and safety of principal; 

3. Liquidity; 

4. Marketability of the investment if the need arises to liquidate the 

investment before maturity; 

5. Diversification of the investment portfolio; and 

6. Yield. 

Section 7.02. Investment Strategy for the Operating Fund. 

Funds in the Operating Fund shall be invested to meet the operating and cash flow 

requirements of the District as determined by the annual operating budget adopted by the Board. 

Operating funds shall not be invested for longer than three (3) years. 

DRAFT



 Exhibit I - 14 

 

Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy (12-6-2017) 

 

Section 7.03. Investment Strategy for the Assessment Reserve Fund. 

Funds in the Assessment Reserve Fund shall be invested to meet the operating and cash 

flow requirements of the District as determined by the annual operating budget adopted by the 

Board. Assessment Reserve Funds shall not be invested for longer than three (3) years. 

ARTICLE VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.01. Annual Review. 

The District shall review this Investment Policy at least annually and adopt a resolution 

confirming the continuance of the Investment Policy without amendment or adopt an Amended 

Investment Policy. 

Section 8.02. Superseding Clause. 

This Policy supersedes any prior policies adopted by the Board of Directors regarding 

investment or securitization of District Funds. 

Section 8.03. Open Meeting. 

The Board officially finds, determines and declares that this Investment Policy was 

reviewed, carefully considered, and adopted at a regular meeting of the Board, and that a 

sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place and subject of this meeting was posted at a place 

readily accessible and convenient to the public within the boundaries of the District and on a 

bulletin board located at a place convenient to the public in Harris County, Texas for the time 

required by law preceding this meeting, as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551, 

Texas Government Code, and that this meeting had been open to the public as required by law at 

all times during which this Policy was discussed, considered and acted upon.  The Board further 

ratifies, approves and confirms such written notice and the contents and posting thereof.

DRAFT



Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Investment Policy 

Adopted the 6th day of December, 2017. 

Reviewed and confirmed on the 5th day of December, 2018. 

Reviewed and confirmed on the 4th day of December, 2019. 

Reviewed and confirmed on the 2nd day of December, 2020. 

Reviewed and confirmed on the 1st day of December, 2021. 

Reviewed and confirmed on the 7th day of December, 2022. 

 

  

    

Darcy John Lefsrud  Dan Arguijo 

 

 

    

Gloria Haney  Debbie Tyler Dillard 

 

 

    

Amar Mohite  Muddassir Siddiqi 

 

 

    

James Llamas  Marylene Chan 

 

 

    

Ryan M. LeVasseur  Christopher Johnston 

 

 

    

Vacant  Jeanette Criglar 

 

    

Desmond Bertrand-Pitts  Kelly Young 

 

 

    

Vacant  Charles Washington 

 

 

   

J. Allen Douglas 

DRAFT



 Exhibit A-IV - 1 

Authorized Brokers (12-1-2021) 

EXHIBIT A-IV 

LIST OF AUTHORIZED QUALIFIED BROKERS 

1. Allegiance Bank Texas  

2. Amegy Bank National Association 

3. American First National Bank  

4. Bank of America Corporation  

5. Bank of America National Association 

6. Bank of Houston  

7. Bank of Texas (BOKF, National Association) 

8. BBVA Compass Bank 

9. Beal Bank, SSB  

10. BOKF Financial  

11. Capital Bank, N.A. 

12. Capital One National Association 

13. Capital Markets Groups Inc. 

14. Cathay Bank  

15. Central Bank  

16. Chase Investments Services Corp 

17. Chasewood Bank 

18. Citibank, National Association  

19. City Bank 

20. Comerica Bank 

21. Commercial State Bank  

22. Community Bank of Texas, N.A.  

23. CUNA 

24. East West Bank 

25. Edward Jones Investments 

26. Encore Bank National Association 

27. Enterprise Bank and Trust Company 

28. FirstBank & Trust Company 

29. First Bank of Missouri City 

30. First Bank of Texas 

31. First Community Bank, N.A. 

32. First Citizens Bank  

33. First-Citizens Bank & Trust Company  

34. Intentionally Deleted 

35. Intentionally Deleted  

36. First National Bank Texas  

37. First National Bank Bastrop 

38. Frost Bank 

39. Golden Bank, National Association  

40. Green Bank National Association 

41. Guaranty Bank and Trust 

42. Hilltop Securities 

43. Houston Community Bank National Association 

44. Icon Bank of Texas, National Association   

45. Independence Bank National Association 

46. Integrity Bank, SSB  

DRAFT

http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=34656&Status=Y&InstName=AMERICAN+FIRST+NATIONAL+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=61033
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=57965&Status=Y&InstName=BANK+OF+HOUSTON&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=432664
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=18503&Status=Y&InstName=CATHAY+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=12395
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=7213&Status=Y&InstName=CITIBANK%2C+NATIONAL+ASSOCIATION&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=4759
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=3363&Status=Y&InstName=COMMUNITYBANK+OF+TEXAS%2C+N%2EA%2E&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=2182
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=11063&Status=Y&InstName=FIRST%2DCITIZENS+BANK+%26+TRUST+COMPANY&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=7078
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=14318&Status=Y&InstName=FIRST+NATIONAL+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=8945
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=3285&Status=Y&InstName=FIRST+NATIONAL+BANK+TEXAS&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=2124
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=26223&Status=Y&InstName=GOLDEN+BANK%2C+NATIONAL+ASSOCIATION&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=32555
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=58378&Status=Y&InstName=ICON+BANK+OF+TEXAS%2C+NATIONAL+ASSOCIATION&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=448957
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=33513&Status=Y&InstName=FIRST+INTERNATIONAL+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=47285
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=58631&Status=Y&InstName=INTEGRITY+BANK%2C+SSB&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=460075


 

 Exhibit A-IV - 2 
Authorized Brokers (12-1-2021) 
 

47. International Bank of Commerce 

48. Invesco National Trust Company  

49. JPMorgan Chase Bank 

50. J.P. Morgan Securities, LLC 

51. Legacy Texas Bank 

52. Legg Mason, Inc. 

53. Liberty Bank and Trust Company  

54. Logic Investment 

55. Lone Star Bank  

56. Lone Star Investment Pool 

57. Masterson Advisors  

58. Memorial City Bank  

59. Mercantil Commerce Bank, National Association  

60. Merchants Bank 

61. Metro Bank National Association  

62. MidSouth Bank, National Association  

63. Moody National Bank 

64. Morgan Keegan, Inc.  

65. Morgan Stanley  

66. NewFirst National Bank  

67. Northern Trust, National Association  

68. Omnibanc National Association 

69. Patriot Bank 

70. Plains State Bank  

71. PNC Bank, National Association  

72. Preferred Bank 

73. Prime Way Federal Credit Union 

74. Prosperity Bank 

75. Regions Bank 

76. Security State Bank  

77. Southwestern National Bank  

78. Spirit of Texas Bank 

79. State Bank of Texas 

80. State Street Bank and Trust 

81. Texan Bank 

82. Texas Capital Bank, National Association  

83. Texas Citizens Bank, National Association 

84. Texas CLASS Bank 

85. Texas First Bank 

86. Texas Gulf Bank, National Association  

87. Texas State Bank 

88. TexPool/TexPool Prime 

89. TexSTAR Investment Pool 

90. The Bank of River Oaks  

91. Trustmark National Bank  

92. Tri-Star Financial 

93. UBS Financial Services Inc.  

94. US Bank National Association 

95. Unity National Bank of Houston  

96. Vista Bank Texas 

DRAFT

http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=91325&Status=Y&InstName=INVESCO+NATIONAL+TRUST+COMPANY&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=18316
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=20856&Status=Y&InstName=LIBERTY+BANK+AND+TRUST+COMPANY&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=14407
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=58324&Status=Y&InstName=LONE+STAR+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=446143
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=58679&Status=Y&InstName=MEMORIAL+CITY+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=462767
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=3183&Status=Y&InstName=NEWFIRST+NATIONAL+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=2045
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=24185&Status=Y&InstName=NORTHERN+TRUST%2C+NATIONAL+ASSOCIATION&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=16839
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=17739&Status=Y&InstName=PLAINS+STATE+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=11696
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=32265&Status=Y&InstName=PREFERRED+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=45099
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=34319&Status=Y&InstName=SOUTHWESTERN+NATIONAL+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=57078
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=22327&Status=Y&InstName=SPIRIT+OF+TEXAS+BANK%2C+SSB&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=15536
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=58319&Status=Y&InstName=TEXAS+CITIZENS+BANK%2C+NATIONAL+ASSOCIATION&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=446091
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=3206&Status=Y&InstName=TEXAS+GULF+BANK%2C+NATIONAL+ASSOCIATION&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=2065
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=58142&Status=Y&InstName=THE+BANK+OF+RIVER+OAKS&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=440465
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=4988&Status=Y&InstName=TRUSTMARK+NATIONAL+BANK&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=3327
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=26351&Status=Y&InstName=UNITY+NATIONAL+BANK+OF+HOUSTON&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=32907
http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=20349&Status=Y&InstName=VISTA+BANK+TEXAS&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=14013


 

 Exhibit A-IV - 3 
Authorized Brokers (12-1-2021) 
 

97. Wallis State Bank 

98. Wells Fargo Advisors, LLC 

99. Wells Fargo Bank South Central, National Association  

100. Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 

101. Whitney Bank 

102. WoodForest National Bank 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

DRAFT

http://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/frmBankAtGlance.asp?inCert1=5146&Status=Y&InstName=WELLS+FARGO+BANK+SOUTH+CENTRAL%2C+NATIONAL+ASSOCIATION&Act_Num=&UNQNUM=3446


 
 Exhibit B-1 

Exhibit B 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE FROM SELLERS OF INVESTMENTS 

AS REQUIRED BY THE PUBLIC FUNDS INVESTMENT ACT 

 

To: Midtown Management District (the “District”) 

From:      

 [Name of the person offering or the 

“qualified representative of the business 

organization” offering to engage in an 

investment transaction with the 

District] 

 [Office such person holds] 

   

of:   (the “Business Organization”) 

 [name of financial institution, business organization or investment pool] 

 

 

Date:   , 20___ 

 

In accordance with the provisions of Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code, I 

hereby certify that: 

1. I am an individual offering to enter into an investment transaction with the 

District or a “qualified representative” of the Business Organization offering to 

enter an investment transaction with the District, as applicable, as such terms are 

used in the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code 

(the “Investment Act”), and that I meet all requirements under such act to sign 

this Certificate. 

2. I or the Business Organization, as applicable, anticipate selling to the District 

investments (the “Investments”) that comply with the Investment Act and the 

District’s Investment Policy as amended and restated last on December 6, 2017 

(collectively, the “Investment Policy”). 

3. I or a registered investment professional that services the District’s account, as 

applicable, have received and reviewed the Investment Policy, which the District 

has represented is the complete Investment Policy of the District now in full force 

and effect. The District has further acknowledged that I or the Business 

Organization, as applicable, may rely upon the Investment Policy until the District 

provides me or the Business Organization, as applicable, with any amendments to 

or any newly adopted form of the Investment Policy. 

4. I or the Business Organization, as applicable, have/has implemented reasonable 

procedures and controls in an effort to preclude investment transactions between 

the District and me or the Business Organization, as applicable, that are not 

DRAFT



 
 Exhibit B-2 

authorized by the Investment Policy, except to the extent that this authorization is 

dependent upon an analysis of the District’s entire portfolio or requires an 

interpretation of subjective investment standards. 

5. I or the Business Organization, as applicable, have/has reviewed or will review 

prior to sale, the terms, conditions and characteristics of the investments to be 

sold to the District and determined (i) that each of the Investments is an 

authorized investment for local governments under the Investment Act and (ii) 

each of the Investments is an authorized investment under the Investment Policy.  

The Business Organization makes no representation as to whether any limits on 

the amount of District monies to be invested in the Investments exceeds or in any 

way violates the Investment Policy. 

6. The Business Organization makes no representations or guarantees regarding the 

prudence, reasonableness or adequacy of the Investment Policy. 

7. The Business Organization has attached hereto, for return to the District, or will 

provide a prospectus or disclosure document for each of the Investments other 

than certificates of deposit and direct obligations of the United States. 

 

 

 

      By:        

Name:         

Title:        

 

 

 

DRAFT



REPORTS 

DRAFT



RESOLUTION RELATING TO 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF HOUSTON 

AND MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT RELATING TO  

THE MIDTOWN PARKING BENEFIT DISTRICT 

WHEREAS, the Midtown Management District (the "District") is a municipal 

management district created by the 76th Texas Legislature pursuant to H.B. 2894 (the “Special 

Act”) and operating pursuant to and under the authority of Chapter 3809, Special District Local 

Laws Code and Chapter 375, Texas Local Government Code, as amended, (the "District"); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to City of Houston, Texas (the “City”) Ordinance No. 2022-252 

(the “City Ordinance”), passed and approved by the City Council of the City on April 6, 2022, 

the City designated an area generally comprised of all streets included and bounded by IH US 45 

to the north, IH US59 to the east and south, and 527 Spur to Elgin to Bagby to Tuam to Genesee 

to Boston to Gillette to Bailey to Cleveland to Heiner to Bagby to Pierce to the west as further 

described in Exhibit B to City of Houston Ordinance No. 2022-252, (“Midtown”) as more 

specifically defined in Section 26-754 of the Code of Ordinances of the City (“City Code”), as a 

parking benefit district (“Midtown PBD”) for which a portion of the revenue from additional 

parking meters and permit fees (less City expenses for administrative costs, signage, 

enforcement, installation, operation, and maintenance of parking meters) is dedicated to public 

safety and public amenities that enhance the quality of life in the Midtown area, such as 

installation and maintenance of sidewalks and pedestrian walkways, street maintenance, 

installation and repair of street lights, landscaping, acquisition of additional parking, and 

improvements that promote walking, cycling, and the use of public transportation in the 

Midtown area.   

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the District (the “Board”) has determined that it is 

in the best interest of the District to enter into an Interlocal Agreement (the “Interlocal 

Agreement”) with the City to manage certain public improvement projects to be funded with 

revenue generated by the Midtown PBD and to document the roles and responsibilities of the 

City and the District under such Interlocal Agreement, consistent with the requirements of the 

Midtown PBD, as set forth in Chapter 26, Article XI, Division 5 of the City Code. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT THAT: 

1. The Board adopts the findings and recitations set out in the preamble to this

Resolution and finds them to be true and correct. 

2. The Board hereby approves the terms and provisions contained in the Interlocal

Agreement with the City relating to the Midtown Parking Benefit District, a copy of which 

agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated as if fully set forth herein.  

3. That the Board hereby authorizes and directs the Chair of the Board or the

Executive Director of the District, and any other Board officers, acting on behalf of such Board, 

DRAFT



to execute the Interlocal Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and to 

take any and all actions necessary to carry out the intent of this Resolution. 

4. That the Board hereby ratifies, confirms and adopts all acts, transactions or

agreements undertaken prior to the adoption of these resolutions by the Board in the District’s 

name or on the District’s behalf in connection with the foregoing matters.  

5. That the Board hereby authorizes the officers of the Board, the Executive

Director, and District staff and consultants to make such changes to the attached form of 

Interlocal Agreement and the exhibits thereto as they determine are consistent with the intent and 

purposes of this Resolution and to take the steps necessary to execute and carry out the terms of 

such Interlocal Agreement, including the payment of any associated costs and legal fees, and to 

execute any certificates, receipts, affidavits, notices and other necessary related documents. 

6. The provisions of this Resolution shall be effective as of the date of adoption and

shall remain in effect until modified by action of the Board. 

DRAFT



PASSED AND APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2022. 

Darcy John Lefsrud  

Chair, Board of Directors 

ATTEST: 

Marylene Chan, Secretary 

(SEAL) 

DRAFT



EXHIBIT A 

Form of Interlocal Agreement Between the Midtown Management District 

and the City of Houston, Texas Relating to the Midtown Parking Benefit 

District 

(See Attached) DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 1 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF HOUSTON  
AND MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT RELATING TO  

THE MIDTOWN PARKING BENEFIT DISTRICT 
 

THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT is made on the date countersigned by the City 
Controller (“Countersignature Date”) by and between the CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS (“City”), 
a Texas Home Rule City of the State of Texas principally situated in Harris County, and the 
MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT (“MMD”), a management district created in 1999 by the 
76th Texas Legislature in House Bill 2894 under Chapter 3809 of the Texas Special District Local 
Laws Code.  City and Midtown Management are hereinafter referred to individually as a “Party” 
and jointly as the “Parties.” 
 

1. RECITALS 

 
1.1. Pursuant to City of Houston Ordinance No. 2022-252, passed and approved by the City 

Council on April 6, 2022 and attached as Exhibit 1, the City designated Midtown, an area 
generally comprised of all streets included and bounded by IH US 45 to the north, IH US59 
to the east and south, and 527 Spur to Elgin to Bagby to Tuam to Genesee to Boston to 
Gillette to Bailey to Cleveland to Heiner to Bagby to Pierce to the west as further described 
in Exhibit B to Exhibit 1, (“Midtown”) as more specifically defined in Section 26-754 of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Houston, Texas (“City Code”), as a parking benefit 
district (“Midtown PBD”) for which a portion of the revenue from additional parking meters 
and permit fees (less City expenses for administrative costs, signage, enforcement, 
installation, operation, and maintenance of parking meters) is dedicated to public safety 
and public amenities that enhance the quality of life in the Midtown area, such as 
installation and maintenance of sidewalks and pedestrian walkways, street maintenance, 
installation and repair of street lights, landscaping, acquisition of additional parking, and 
improvements that promote walking, cycling, and the use of public transportation in the 
Midtown area.   

 
1.2. Pursuant to the City of Houston Code of Ordinances Section 26-755(d), the City and MMD 

desire to enter into this Agreement to manage the public improvement projects as 
described in Section 1.1 to be funded with revenue generated by the Midtown PBD and to 
document the roles and responsibilities of each Party under this Agreement, consistent 
with the requirements of the Midtown PBD, as set forth in Chapter 26, Article XI, Division 
5 of the City Code. 
 

2. PARTIES 

 

2.1. Addresses of the Parties. 

 
2.1.1. The initial addresses of the parties, which one party may change by giving written 

notice to the other party, are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 2 

 

City MMD  
Director 
Administration & Regulatory  
Affairs Department 
P.O. Box 1562 
Houston, Texas 77002 

Executive Director 
Midtown Management District 
410 Pierce St, Suite 355 
Houston, Texas 77002 

 
 

The Parties agree as follows: 

2.2. Table of Contents. 
 

2.2.1. This Agreement consists of the following sections: 

Table of Contents 

1. RECITALS............................................................................................................ 1 

2. PARTIES .............................................................................................................. 1 

2.1. Addresses of the Parties. .................................................................................................1 

2.2. Table of Contents. .........................................................................................................2 

2.3. Parts Incorporated. ............................................................................................................3 

2.4. Controlling Parts. ...............................................................................................................3 
2.5. Signatures. .........................................................................................................................4 

3. DEFINITIONS ....................................................................................................... 5 

4. DUTIES OF MMD ................................................................................................. 6 

5. DUTIES OF CITY ................................................................................................. 7 

6. TERM & TERMINATION ...................................................................................... 8 

6.1. Term. ...................................................................................................................................8 

6.2. Renewals. ..........................................................................................................................8 

7. MISCELLANEOUS .............................................................................................. 9 

7.1. Relationship of the Parties. ..............................................................................................9 

7.2. Force Majeure. ...................................................................................................................9 

7.3. Severability. ......................................................................................................................10 

7.4. Entire Agreement. ...........................................................................................................10 

7.5. Written Amendment. .......................................................................................................10 
7.6. Governing Law and Venue. ...........................................................................................10 

7.7. Notices. .............................................................................................................................10 
7.8. Captions. ...........................................................................................................................10 

7.9. Non-Waiver. .....................................................................................................................11 
7.10. Ambiguities. ......................................................................................................................11 

7.11. Enforcement. ....................................................................................................................11 
7.12. Assignment.......................................................................................................................11 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 3 

 

7.13. Survival. ............................................................................................................................11 
7.14. Remedies Cumulative. ...................................................................................................11 
 
Exhibit 1 – Initial List of Midtown Advisory Committee Members 
Exhibit 2 – Copy of City of Houston Ordinance No. 2022-252 

 
2.3. Parts Incorporated. 

2.3.1. The above-described sections, exhibits, and recitals are incorporated into this 
Agreement. 

 
2.4. Controlling Parts. 

2.4.1. If a conflict among the sections and exhibits arises, the sections control 
over the exhibits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

  

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 4 

 

2.5. Signatures. 

2.5.1. The Parties have executed this Agreement in multiple copies, each of which is 
an original. Each person signing this Agreement represents and warrants that 
he or she is duly authorized and has legal capacity to execute and deliver this 
Agreement.  Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of such Party’s 
obligations hereunder have been duly authorized, and that the Agreement is a 
valid and legal agreement binding on such Party and enforceable in 
accordance with its terms. The Parties hereby agree that each Party may sign 
and deliver this Agreement electronically or by electronic means and that an 
electronic transmittal of a signature, including but not limited to, a scanned 
signature page, will be as good, binding, and effective as an original signature. 

 

MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT  
 
By:___________________________  
Name:  
Title:  
Tax ID:  
 
 

 
 
 
 

ATTEST/SEAL: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Secretary  
 
 

CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS 
Signed by: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Mayor 
 

APPROVED:  
 
 
_______________________________  
Director, Administration and  
Regulatory Affairs Department 
 
 
 

COUNTERSIGNED BY: 
 
 
________________________________ 
City Controller 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________ 
Assistant City Attorney 
L.D. File No. _________________ 
 

DATE COUNTERSIGNED: 
 
________________________________ 
 

 
  

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 5 

 

3. DEFINITIONS 

 
3.1. “Agreement” means this contract between the Parties, including all exhibits and any 

written amendments authorized by City Council and MMD.  

3.2.  “City” is defined in the preamble of this Agreement and includes it successors and 

assigns.   

3.3. “City Council” means the City of Houston City Council as described in the City of Houston 

Charter, Article V, Section 1. 

3.4. “City Fiscal Year” means the period beginning July 1st of each calendar year and ending 

June 30th of the following calendar year. 

3.5. “Countersignature Date” means the date shown as the date countersigned by the City 

Controller on the signature page of this Agreement. 

3.6. “Director” means the Director for the Administration and Regulatory Affairs Department 

(“ARA”) or the person he or she designates. 

3.7. “Ex Officio Members” is defined in Section 4.2 of this Agreement. 

3.8. “Initial Term” is defined in Section 6.1 of this Agreement. 

3.9. “Mayor” means the City of Houston Mayor or his or her designee.  

3.10. Midtown” is defined in Section 1.1 of this Agreement. 

3.11. “Midtown PBD” is defined in Section 1.1 of this Agreement. 

3.12. “Midtown Revenue” is defined in Section 5.3.1. of this Agreement. 

3.13. “MMD” is defined in the preamble of this Agreement and includes its successors and 

assigns. 

3.14. “MMD Allocation” is defined in Section 5.3.2 of this Agreement. 

3.15. “Projects” means those public improvement projects in the Midtown PBD that meet the 

definition of “projects” set forth in Section 26-754 of the City Code.  

3.16. “Reconciliation Statement” is defined in Section 5.3.1 of this Agreement. 

3.17. “Regular Members” is defined in Section 4.2 of this Agreement. 

3.18. “Renewal Term” is defined in Section 6.2 of this Agreement. 

3.19. “Term” means the term of this Agreement, including the Initial Term and, if applicable, 

the Renewal Term, as further set forth in Article 6 of this Agreement. 

3.20. “Total Administrative Costs” is defined in Section 5.3.1 of this Agreement. 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 6 

 

 

4. DUTIES OF MMD  

4.1. Creation of Committee; Compliance with City Code Requirements. As a condition 

precedent of this agreement, MMD has created the Midtown Advisory Committee 

(“Committee”) as required by and for the purpose stated in Section 26-756 of the City 

Code, subject to the requirements of Section 26-756(e) of the City Code as set forth in 

Section 4.2.  The list of the initial Committee members is attached at Exhibit 2.  

4.2. Committee Composition.  The Committee shall consist of no less than five and no more 

than nine regular members (“Regular Members”) and five non-voting ex officio members 

(“Ex Officio Members”); the Ex Officio members as those individuals referenced in Section 

5.1 of this Agreement.  MMD shall (i) appoint the Regular Members to the Committee, (ii) 

ensure that the number of Committee members and the composition of the Committee is 

maintained in compliance with the requirements of Section 26-753(b) of the City Code and 

the chart below, and (iii) provide a list of the Regular Members to the Director, including 

any proposed changes to the membership or composition thereof, 30 days before  such 

proposed changes are submitted to the Board for approval; provided, however, in 

accordance with Section 26-756(e) of the City Code, if MMD does not create the 

Committee as required under Section 4.1., Regular Members shall be appointed by the 

Mayor and confirmed by City Council.   

Regular Members shall be comprised of business owners or residents of Midtown who 

have an interest in the parking issues affecting Midtown and are at least 18 years of age.  

A majority of the Regular Members shall be business or commercial property owners in 

Midtown or their designees, with at least one member being a representative from the 

executive committee of the Midtown Super Neighborhood and residents make up at least 

40% of the Committee.  The following chart sets forth the example compositions of the 

Committee based on the number of members: 

 

Number of Members Composition of Committee 

5 members • 3 business owner representatives 

• 2 resident representatives with at least one 
from the Midtown Super Neighborhood 
Executive Committee 

6 members • 4 business owner representatives 

• 2 resident representatives with at least one 
from the Midtown Super Neighborhood 
Executive Committee 

7 members • 4 business owner representatives 

• 3 resident representatives with at least one 
from the Midtown Super Neighborhood 
Executive Committee 
 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 7 

 

8 members • 5 business owner representatives 

• 3 resident representatives with at least one 
from the Midtown Super Neighborhood 
Executive Committee 

9 members • 5 business owner representatives 

• 4 resident representatives with at least one 
from the Midtown Super Neighborhood 
Executive Committee 

 
4.3. Meetings.  MMD shall conduct quarterly meetings of the Committee in accordance with 

the Texas Open Meetings Act, as required by Section 26-756(d). MMD shall be 
responsible for posting notices for Committee meetings, taking meeting minutes, and 
posting meeting agendas, meeting minutes and posting other Committee and Midtown 
PBD documents online. 

 
4.4. Projects.   

 
4.4.1. The Committee shall make recommendations to the Mayor and City Council on 

issues relating to the Midtown PBD, including potential Projects to be funded with 
revenue generated from the Midtown PBD, the timing and order of such Projects, 
changes to the parking meter and permit fees, and the allocation and management 
of permits.  The Committee shall create a list of potential Projects and provide such 
list to the Director for approval. 

 
4.4.2. The Director shall determine which Projects shall be funded by Midtown PBD 

revenues.  Upon approval by the Director, MMD shall be responsible for 
executing Projects utilizing Midtown PBD revenues provided to the MMD 
pursuant to Section 5.3 of this Agreement. 

 
5. DUTIES OF CITY 

5.1. Ex Officio Members of Committee.  The City personnel set forth in Section 26-756(c) of 
the City Code shall serve as the Ex Officio Members of the Committee and attend the 
meetings of the Committee. 
 

5.2. Director’s Responsibilities.  The Director shall: 
 
5.2.1. Serve as the primary contact for the Committee. 

 
5.2.2. Provide quarterly financial reports regarding Midtown PBD revenue and parking 

updates, meter revenue projections, and operations cost with annual net revenue 
projections to the Committee for review. 

 
5.3. Reconciliation. 

 
5.3.1. Within (i) 30 days following the Countersignature Date, for City Fiscal year 2022 

and (ii) 30 days following the  end of each subsequent City Fiscal Year, the Director 
shall provide MMD with a reconciliation statement (“Reconciliation Statement”) 
describing (1) all fees and revenues generated from the use of parking meters 
between the hours of 6:00 pm and 2:00 am as soon as any such parking meter 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 8 

 

becomes operational and parking permits within Midtown PBD as further described 
in Section 26-755(a) of the City Code, (2) total administrative costs, signage, 
enforcement, debt service, and the installation, operation and maintenance of 
parking meters placed in service in Midtown PBD (“Total Administrative Costs”), 
and (3) 60% of the fees and revenues in excess of the Total Administrative Costs 
(“Midtown Revenues”).   
 

5.3.2. Within (i) 60 days following the submittal to MMD of the Reconciliation Statement 
described in section 5.3.1. for City Fiscal Year 2022 and (ii) 30 days following the 
submittal to MMD of the Reconciliation Statement for each subsequent City Fiscal 
Year as described in Section 5.3.1, the City shall remit to MMD the Midtown 
Revenues for that year (“MMD Allocation”).   
 

5.3.3. In the event that (i) Midtown PBD is terminated under City of Houston Code of 
Ordinance Section 26-754, , (ii) this Agreement expires, or (iii) this Agreement is 
terminated pursuant to Section 6.3, MMD shall return to the City any funds from 
the MMD Allocation that have not been expended within sixty (60) days of such 
termination or expiration, provided, however, this provision shall not be applicable 
to funds from the MMD Allocation that the District owes for services already 
performed that MMD is contractually committed or otherwise formally obligated to 
pay.  Within thirty (30) days after receiving notice of termination, MMD shall submit 
a statement to the Director showing in detail the services performed that MMD is 
contractually committed or otherwise formally obligated to pay. The Director shall 
verify such statement.  Failing verification, MMD and Director shall work in good 
faith to resolve the issues, and MMD shall resubmit its statement reflecting the 
Parties’ findings and shall remit any payment due within 30 days of the resolution. 
 

6. TERM & TERMINATION 
 

6.1. Term. 
 
6.1.1. This Agreement is effective on the Countersignature Date and remains in 

effect for five years from the Countersignature Date (“Initial Term”). 
 

6.2. Renewals. 
 

6.2.1. If the Director, at his or her sole discretion, makes a written request for 
renewal to MMD at least 30 days before expiration of the then-current term, 
then, upon expiration of the Initial Term, this Agreement is renewed for one 
successive five-year term upon the same terms and conditions. 

 
6.3. Termination. 

 
6.3.1. This Agreement shall automatically terminate in the event that the Midtown 

PBD is terminated pursuant to Section 26- of the City Code. In addition to 
the foregoing, the City may terminate this Agreement, without cause, by 
30 days’ written notice to the District. Upon termination under this 
provision, City shall have no further obligations under this Agreement. 
 

6.3.2. City may terminate this Agreement, without cause, by 30 days’ written notice 
to MMD.  After termination under this provision, City shall have no further 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 9 

 

obligations under this Agreement.  
 

6.3.3. Either Party may terminate its performance under this Agreement if the 
other Party defaults and fails to cure the default after receiving notice of it.  
Default occurs if a party fails to perform one or more material duties under 
this Agreement.  If a default occurs, the injured Party shall deliver written 
notice to the defaulting party describing the default and the proposed 
termination date.  The date must be at least 30 days after the receipt of such 
notice.  The injured Party, at its sole option, may extend the proposed 
termination date to a later date.  If the defaulting Party does not cure the 
default before the proposed date, the injured Party may terminate its 
performance under this Agreement on the termination date.  The Director 
shall act on behalf of the City to notify MMD of a default and effect 
termination. 

 
7. MISCELLANEOUS 

 
7.1. Relationship of the Parties. 

 
7.1.1. City and MMD agree that no partnership relationship between the Parties hereto 

or joint venture is created by this Agreement, and MMD is not made the agent 
or representative of City for any purpose or in any manner whatsoever and that 
each Party is responsible in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas for 
its own negligent or wrongful acts or omissions and for those of its officers, 
agents or employees in conjunction with the performance of services covered 
under this Agreement, without waiving any governmental immunity available to 
the Parties under Texas law and without waiving any defenses of the Parties 
under Texas law.  The provisions of this section are solely for the benefit of the 
Parties and are not intended to create or grant any rights, contractual or 
otherwise, to any other person or entity.   

 
7.2. Force Majeure. 

 
7.2.1. Timely performance by both Parties is essential to this Agreement.  However, 

neither party is liable for reasonable delays in performing its obligations under 
this Agreement to the extent the delay is caused by Force Majeure that directly 
impacts the City or MMD.  The event of Force Majeure may permit a reasonable 
delay in performance but does not excuse a party’s obligations to complete 
performance under this Agreement.  Force Majeure means:  fires, interruption of 
utility services, pandemics, epidemics in the City, floods, hurricanes, tornadoes, 
ice storms and other natural disasters, explosions, war, terrorist acts against the 
City or MMD, riots, court orders, and the acts of superior governmental or military 
authority, and which the affected party is unable to prevent by the exercise of 
reasonable diligence.  The term does not include any changes in general 
economic conditions such as inflation, interest rates, economic downturn or other 
factors of general application; or an event that merely makes performance more 
difficult, expensive or impractical.   

 
7.2.2. This relief is not applicable unless the affected party does the following: 

 
7.2.1.1. uses due diligence to remove the effects of the Force Majeure as 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 10 

 

quickly as possible and to continue performance notwithstanding 
the Force Majeure; and 

 
7.2.1.2. provides the other party with prompt written notice of the cause and 

its anticipated effect. 
 

7.2.3. The Director will review claims that a Force Majeure that directly 
impacts the City or MMD has occurred and render a written decision within 14 
days.  The decision of the Director is final.   

 
7.3. Severability. 

 
7.3.1. If any part of this Agreement is for any reason found to be unenforceable, all 

other parts remain enforceable unless the result materially prejudices either 
party. 

 
7.4. Entire Agreement. 

 
7.4.1. Upon execution of this Agreement by both Parties, this Agreement shall 

constitute the entire agreement between the Parties. 
 

7.5. Written Amendment. 
 
7.5.1. Unless otherwise specified elsewhere in this Agreement, this Agreement may be 

amended only by written instrument by the City Council and executed by both 
Parties.  The Director is only authorized to perform the functions specifically 
delegated to him or her in this Agreement. 

 
7.6. Governing Law and Venue. 

 
7.6.1. This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the 

applicable laws of the State of Texas and City of Houston. Venue for any disputes 
relating in any way to this Agreement shall lie exclusively in Harris County, 
Texas. 
 

7.7. Notices. 
 
7.7.1. All notices to either party to the Agreement must be in writing and must be 

delivered by hand, facsimile, United States registered or certified mail, return 
receipt requested, United States Express Mail, Federal Express, UPS or any 
other national overnight express delivery service.  The notice must be addressed 
to the party to whom the notice is given at its address set out in Section 1 of this 
Agreement or other address the receiving party has designated previously by 
proper notice to the sending party.  Postage or delivery charges must be paid by 
the party giving the notice. 
 

7.8. Captions. 
 
7.8.1. Captions contained in this Agreement are for reference only, and, therefore, have 

no effect in construing this Agreement.  The captions are not restrictive of the 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 11 

 

subject matter of any section in this Agreement. 
 

7.9. Non-Waiver. 
 
7.9.1. If either party fails to require the other to perform a term of this Agreement, that 

failure does not prevent the party from later enforcing that term and all other 
terms.  If either party waives the other’s breach of a term, that waiver does not 
waive a later breach of this Agreement. 
 

7.9.2. An approval by the Director, or by any other employee or agent of the City, of 
any part of MMD’s performance does not waive compliance with this Agreement 
or establish a standard for performance other than that required by this 
Agreement and by law.  The Director is not authorized to vary the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 
7.10. Ambiguities. 

 
7.10.1. If any term of this Agreement is ambiguous, it shall not be construed for or 

against any party on the basis that the party did or did not write it. 
 

7.11. Enforcement. 
 
7.11.1. The City Attorney or his or her designee may enforce all legal rights and 

obligations under this Agreement without further authorization.  MMD shall 
provide to the City Attorney all documents and records that the City Attorney 
requests to assist in determining MMD’s compliance with this Agreement, with 
the exception of those documents made confidential by federal or state law or 
regulation. 
 

7.12. Assignment. 
 
7.12.1. No Party shall make, in whole or in part, any assignment of this Agreement or 

any obligation under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other 
Party.  MMD shall not delegate any portion of its performance under this 
Agreement without the Director’s prior written consent. 
 

7.13. Survival. 
 
7.13.1. MMD shall remain obligated to the City under all clauses of this Agreement that 

expressly or by their nature extend beyond the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement. 
 

7.14. Remedies Cumulative. 
 
7.14.1. Unless otherwise specified elsewhere in this Agreement, the rights and remedies 

contained in this Agreement are not exclusive, but are cumulative of all rights 
and remedies, which exist now or in the future.  Neither Party may terminate its 
duties under this Agreement except in accordance with its provisions. 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 12 

 

Exhibit 1 
Copy of City of Houston Ordinance No. 2022-252 

 
 

{to be inserted }

DRAFT



Midtown Management District – Parking  2022 
 13 

 

Exhibit 2 
 Initial List of Midtown Advisory Committee Members  

 
 
 

{to be provided } 

DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



 
 

 

RESOLUTION RELATING TO 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF HOUSTON  

AND MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT RELATING TO  

THE MIDTOWN PARKING BENEFIT DISTRICT 

 

WHEREAS, the Midtown Management District (the "District") is a municipal 

management district created by the 76th Texas Legislature pursuant to H.B. 2894 (the “Special 

Act”) and operating pursuant to and under the authority of Chapter 3809, Special District Local 

Laws Code and Chapter 375, Texas Local Government Code, as amended, (the "District"); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to City of Houston, Texas (the “City”) Ordinance No. 2022-252 

(the “City Ordinance”), passed and approved by the City Council of the City on April 6, 2022, 

the City designated an area generally comprised of all streets included and bounded by IH US 45 

to the north, IH US59 to the east and south, and 527 Spur to Elgin to Bagby to Tuam to Genesee 

to Boston to Gillette to Bailey to Cleveland to Heiner to Bagby to Pierce to the west as further 

described in Exhibit B to City of Houston Ordinance No. 2022-252, (“Midtown”) as more 

specifically defined in Section 26-754 of the Code of Ordinances of the City (“City Code”), as a 

parking benefit district (“Midtown PBD”) for which a portion of the revenue from additional 

parking meters and permit fees (less City expenses for administrative costs, signage, 

enforcement, installation, operation, and maintenance of parking meters) is dedicated to public 

safety and public amenities that enhance the quality of life in the Midtown area, such as 

installation and maintenance of sidewalks and pedestrian walkways, street maintenance, 

installation and repair of street lights, landscaping, acquisition of additional parking, and 

improvements that promote walking, cycling, and the use of public transportation in the 

Midtown area.   

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the District (the “Board”) has determined that it is 

in the best interest of the District to enter into an Interlocal Agreement (the “Interlocal 

Agreement”) with the City to manage certain public improvement projects to be funded with 

revenue generated by the Midtown PBD and to document the roles and responsibilities of the 

City and the District under such Interlocal Agreement, consistent with the requirements of the 

Midtown PBD, as set forth in Chapter 26, Article XI, Division 5 of the City Code. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT THAT: 

1. The Board adopts the findings and recitations set out in the preamble to this 

Resolution and finds them to be true and correct. 

2. The Board hereby approves the terms and provisions contained in the Interlocal 

Agreement with the City relating to the Midtown Parking Benefit District, a copy of which 

agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated as if fully set forth herein.  

3. That the Board hereby authorizes and directs the Chair of the Board or the 

Executive Director of the District, and any other Board officers, acting on behalf of such Board, 

DRAFT



 
 

 

to execute the Interlocal Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and to 

take any and all actions necessary to carry out the intent of this Resolution. 

4. That the Board hereby ratifies, confirms and adopts all acts, transactions or 

agreements undertaken prior to the adoption of these resolutions by the Board in the District’s 

name or on the District’s behalf in connection with the foregoing matters.  

5. That the Board hereby authorizes the officers of the Board, the Executive 

Director, and District staff and consultants to make such changes to the attached form of 

Interlocal Agreement and the exhibits thereto as they determine are consistent with the intent and 

purposes of this Resolution and to take the steps necessary to execute and carry out the terms of 

such Interlocal Agreement, including the payment of any associated costs and legal fees, and to 

execute any certificates, receipts, affidavits, notices and other necessary related documents. 

6. The provisions of this Resolution shall be effective as of the date of adoption and 

shall remain in effect until modified by action of the Board. 

DRAFT



 
 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2022. 

 

 

              

       Darcy John Lefsrud  

Chair, Board of Directors 

  

ATTEST: 

 

 

       

Marylene Chan, Secretary 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

DRAFT



 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Form of Interlocal Agreement Between the Midtown Management District 

and the City of Houston, Texas Relating to the Midtown Parking Benefit 

District 

 

(See Attached) 

 DRAFT



 
 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CREATION AND ESTABLISHMENT OF A 

MIDTOWN PARKING BENEFIT DISTRICT ADVISORY COMMITTEE  

 

WHEREAS, the Midtown Management District (the "District") is a municipal 

management district created by the 76th Texas Legislature pursuant to H.B. 2894 (the “Special 

Act”) and operating pursuant to and under the authority of Chapter 3809, Special District Local 

Laws Code and Chapter 375, Texas Local Government Code, as amended, (the "District"); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to City of Houston, Texas (the “City”) Ordinance No. 2022-252 

(the “City Ordinance”), passed and approved by the City Council of the City on April 6, 2022, 

the City designated an area generally comprised of all streets included and bounded by IH US 45 

to the north, IH US59 to the east and south, and 527 Spur to Elgin to Bagby to Tuam to Genesee 

to Boston to Gillette to Bailey to Cleveland to Heiner to Bagby to Pierce to the west as further 

described in Exhibit B to City of Houston Ordinance No. 2022-252, (“Midtown”) as more 

specifically defined in Section 26-754 of the Code of Ordinances of the City (“City Code”), as a 

parking benefit district (“Midtown PBD”) for which a portion of the revenue from additional 

parking meters and permit fees (less City expenses for administrative costs, signage, 

enforcement, installation, operation, and maintenance of parking meters) is dedicated to public 

safety and public amenities that enhance the quality of life in the Midtown area, such as 

installation and maintenance of sidewalks and pedestrian walkways, street maintenance, 

installation and repair of street lights, landscaping, acquisition of additional parking, and 

improvements that promote walking, cycling, and the use of public transportation in the 

Midtown area.   

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the District (the “Board”) has determined that it is 

in the best interest of the District to enter into an Interlocal Agreement (the “Interlocal 

Agreement”) with the City to manage certain public improvement projects to be funded with 

revenue generated by the Midtown PBD and to document the roles and responsibilities of the 

City and the District under such Interlocal Agreement, consistent with the requirements of the 

Midtown PBD, as set forth in Chapter 26, Article XI, Division 5 of the City Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the District now desires to create and establish an advisory committee 

for the Midtown PBD (the “Midtown PBD Advisory Committee”) as contemplated and 

required pursuant to the terms of the Interlocal Agreement.  

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

MIDTOWN MANAGEMENT DISTRICT THAT: 

1. The Board adopts the findings and recitations set out in the preamble to this 

Resolution and finds them to be true and correct. 

2. The Board hereby approves the creation and establishment of a six (6) member 

Midtown PBD Advisory Committee and appoints the persons named in Exhibit A as the initial 

members to serve on such Committee.  

3. The Board hereby names the Vice Chair of the Midtown Management District, 

James Llamas, to serve as the initial Chair of the Midtown PBD Advisory Committee.  

DRAFT



 
 

 

4. The Board hereby acknowledges the appointment of the Vice Chair and member 

of the executive committee of the Midtown Super Neighborhood #62, Cynthia Aceves Lewis as 

the person designated by the Midtown Super Neighborhood #62 to serve on the Midtown PBD 

Advisory Committee.  

5. The Board hereby authorizes the officers of the Board, the Executive Director of 

the District, and District staff and consultants, acting on behalf of such Board or the District, to 

take such other and further actions as may be reasonable and necessary to carry out the intent and 

purposes of this Resolution, including but not limited to including the payment of any associated 

costs and legal fees, and to execute and issue any certificates, notices, and/or other necessary 

related documents. 

6. The Board hereby ratifies, confirms, and adopts all acts, transactions or 

agreements undertaken prior to the adoption of these resolutions by the Board in the District’s 

name or on the District’s behalf in connection with the foregoing matters.  

7. The provisions of this Resolution shall be effective as of the date of adoption and 

shall remain in effect until modified by action of the Board. 

DRAFT



 
 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2022. 

 

 

              

       Darcy John Lefsrud  

Chair, Board of Directors 

  

ATTEST: 

 

 

       

Marylene Chan, Secretary 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

DRAFT



 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 

List of Initial Members of the 

 Midtown Parking Benefit District Advisory Committee 

 

 

 

1. James Llamas   Midtown Resident and Vice Chair of Midtown 

    Management District 

 

2. Maggie Segrich  Midtown Business Owner 

 

3. Scarlett Yarborough  Midtown Business Owner 

 

4. Scott Irby   Agent for a Midtown Commercial Property Owner 

 

5. Cynthia Aceves Lewis Appointee of Midtown Super Neighborhood #62 and 

     Residential Property Owner  

DRAFT




